FILED

SID J. WHITE

CLERK

By.

SEP 23 19981

Shief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIRRON JOHNSON,	:
Petitioner,	:
ν.	: CASE NO. 93,915
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Respondent.	:

.

đ,

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

> STEVEN A. BEEN Public Defender's Office Leon County Courthouse 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2436 ext. 114 Florida Bar No. 335142 Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

During December 1994 and January 1995, three women, identified in the district court opinion as P.W., N.B., and C.R., were each taken to the Atlantic Gardens Apartment complex in Jacksonville and raped and robbed. Sirron Johnson was charged with robberies, kidnappings, and sexual batteries in connection with these three criminal episodes. Only the charges of crimes against C.R. were tried, but the crimes against P.W. and N.B. were admitted as collateral crime evidence. Johnson was found guilty of armed kidnapping, armed robbery, and armed sexual battery against C.R., and was sentenced to forty-eight years in prison.¹ Johnson appealed, and the First District Court of Appeal issued an opinion affirming on all issues raised.

Suggestive Identification

Shortly after the crimes, P.W. and N.B. were shown a six person photo spread, and each identified a person in the photo spread, Jesse Ellis, as her attacker. A year later, a prosecutor told P.W. and N.B. that DNA had excluded Ellis, but had matched another person. The prosecutor told N.B. that she would be shown a picture of the man who assaulted her so she would not see him for the first time in court.² P.W. and N.B. were then shown, in the prosecutor's office, photographs only of Jesse Ellis and

¹The district court opinion states that the sentence was forty-five years, but it was actually forty-eight. (2R204-206; 13R1794).

²Although not included in the district court's opinion, the prosecutor also told P.W. that Sirron Johnson had been arrested and charged with the crime. (1R153; 3R49-50).

Sirron Johnson, and each identified Sirron Johnson.

The district court opinion includes a lengthy excerpt from the trial judge's order denying the motion to suppress the eyewitness identifications.³ The trial judge found that P.W. and N.B. had the opportunity to observe their attacker, and their attention was focused on him. The trial judge found that P.W. and N.B.'s initial descriptions of the attacker were generally consistent with Sirron Johnson, but were not precise, and were inconsistent with Johnson as to height.⁴ The trial judge found that P.W. and N.B. were resolute in their identifications of Sirron Johnson, but that they had also been resolute in their earlier identifications of Jesse Ellis. The trial judge found that P.W. and N.B. had both initially identified someone other than Sirron Johnson (i.e., Jesse Ellis) and expressed certainty in that identification. Finally, the trial judge listed another factor, the only factor to which he said he was giving great weight, and this was the evidence that Sirron Johnson's DNA matched the DNA profile of the perpetrator. The trial judge concluded that because of the DNA match, under the totality of the circumstances, there was no great risk of irreparable misidentification, so he denied the motion to suppress.

³At trial, the defense moved to suppress all three women's identifications, but on appeal has asserted only that it was error to fail to suppress the identifications made by P.W. and N.B.

⁴The district court opinion does not quote the part of the trial judge order discussing composite drawings prepared with the participation of P.W. and N.B., but the opinion says that the trial judge found the composites to resemble Johnson more than Ellis.

Johnson asserted to the district court that it was error for the trial judge to use the DNA evidence to decide that the identification procedure did not violate due process because the DNA evidence does not bear on whether P.W.'s and N.B.'s identifications of Johnson were based on their own memories or on the state's improper influence. The district court rejected petitioner's argument, citing this Court's reference to fingerprint evidence in the analysis of a suggestive identification procedure in <u>Chaney v. State</u>, 267 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972).

Guidelines Departure Without Orally Articulated Reasons

As scored under the sentencing guidelines, Johnson's sentence was to fall within the 9.5 to 16 year range. At sentencing, the trial judge announced that he was imposing a departure sentence, but did not give his reasons for the departure, orally or in writing. Instead, he stated that he would provide reasons in a written order, which he did, six days after sentencing.

Johnson asserted to the district court that it was error to depart from the guidelines without orally articulating reasons at the time sentence was imposed as required by Fla. R. Crim. Proc. 3.702(d)(18)(A), and that the remedy for such error was remand for a guidelines sentence. The district court did not reach the merits of this issue, holding the issue not preserved because Johnson did not object at sentencing and did not file a motion under Fla. Rule of Crim. Proc. 3.800(b) to correct the error.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I. In <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that identification testimony obtained by unnecessarily suggestive methods may only be admitted if the identification is found to be based solely upon the witness's independent recollection. In this case, the district court has held that improperly obtained identification testimony can be admitted without a finding that the identification was based solely on the witness's independent recollection, if there is other evidence indicating that the defendant is most likely quilty. The district court's decision conflicts with Edwards. The district court's decision was based, however, on Chaney v. State, 267 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972), which seemed to suggest a different rule than that stated in Edwards. This Court should accept jurisdiction to clear up the confusion created by the apparent inconsistency between Edwards and Chaney.

Issue II. The district court held that a serious sentencing error clear on the face of the record, could not be addressed on direct appeal because the error was not preserved. This holding directly conflicts with <u>Denson v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). This issue is now pending in this Court, in <u>Denson</u> and other cases.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the supreme court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V

\$3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION TO DECIDE THE SUGGESTIVE IDENTIFICATION ISSUE BASED ON CONFLICT WITH EDWARDS v. STATE, 538 SO.2D 440 (FLA. 1989).

This case presents two quite different views of the law of suggestive identifications. Petitioner contends that when the state has obtained identification evidence in a way that unnecessarily suggests to the witness who the culprit is, due process requires exclusion of the identification unless it is found to have been based on the witness's independent recollection, uninfluenced by the state's improper suggestion. In this view, evidence that the defendant's DNA matches that of the perpetrator is not pertinent because it does not bear on whether the witness's testimony is based on her own recollection, or is based on false memory created by the state's improper identification procedure. In the view of the trial judge and the district court, identification testimony obtained through an unnecessarily suggestive procedure should be admitted unless there is a substantial possibility that the witness identified the wrong person, i.e., that the defendant is actually innocent. The implication of the district court's view is that even if the witness has no actual memory of her attacker, and her belief that she can identify the defendant is solely the product of the state's suggestive procedure having planted the defendant's image in her mind, nonetheless her testimony identifying the defendant is admissible if the evidence aside from the identification makes

the probability of the defendant's innocence slim enough. Thus, the district court found no error in the trial judge's having admitted P.W.'s and N.B.'s identification testimony because Johnson's guilt was confirmed by the DNA.

The district court's holding is inconsistent with <u>Edwards v.</u> <u>State</u>, 538 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1989), in which this Court said:

> [T]he in-court identification may not be admitted unless it is found to be reliable and based solely upon the witness's independent recollection of the offender at the time of the crime, uninfluenced by the intervening illegal confrontation.

538 So.2d 442. Under <u>Edwards</u>, the identification does not come in unless found to be based solely on the witness's independent recollection. Per <u>Edwards</u>, problems with the identification cannot be erased by unrelated evidence of guilt. The inconsistency between the district court's approval of using nonidentification evidence to excuse the taint of the identification and <u>Edwards</u>'s holding that the identification not come in unless based solely on the witness's recollection provides the conflict needed to establish this Court's jurisdiction.

The district court based its ruling on <u>Chaney v. State</u>, 267 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972). In <u>Chaney</u>, the primary holding was:

> [T]hat prosecutrix had opportunity to see her assailant over a period of several hours, including daylight of the day succeeding his original attack upon her, is such an overwhelming circumstance of independent origin as to discount the suggestion that only through means of the photograph prosecutrix was able to identify Appellant.

267 So.2d 69. <u>Chaney</u> also stated, though:

Corroborating latent fingerprints extracted

from furnishings and items in the trailer where the rape occurred were identified as belonging to Appellant.

Id. This reference to fingerprints seemed to indicate that the fingerprints were considered on the totality of circumstances surrounding the identification. It is arguable that <u>Chaney</u>'s reference to fingerprint evidence was unnecessary to the decision, since the context showed that the <u>Chaney</u> witness's identification was based on her own memory. The First District did not read the reference to fingerprint evidence in <u>Chaney</u> as dictum, however. There is a tension between <u>Chaney</u> and <u>Edwards</u>, and this tension is one reason this Court should take jurisdiction in this case. Despite <u>Edward</u>'s clear statement, <u>Chaney</u>'s suggestion of a different rule creates confusion that this Court can eliminate by exercising its jurisdiction in this case.

The district court opinion does not deal with the issue of harmlessness, but the state may argue that this Court should not exercise its jurisdiction because any error of admitting the P.W. and N.B. identifications was harmless. Although petitioner contends that the DNA evidence should not have been considered on the question of whether the P.W. and N.B. identifications violated due process, the DNA evidence is pertinent to the question of whether the due process violation was harmless. The evidence against Johnson at trial besides P.W.'s and N.B.'s identifications was the DNA match and C.R.'s identification. The jury had some grounds to question the dispositiveness of the DNA evidence, because the defense presented the jury with expert

testimony challenging the scientific basis for the state's DNA statistical conclusions, and also presented evidence that the frequency of DNA matches is higher among family, and that Johnson had a large extended family in the Jacksonville area. (11R1528-1529; 12R1552-1553,1575-1582,1598-1604,1653).

The jury also had grounds for questioning the persuasiveness of C.R.'s identification. As the trial judge's order quoted in the district court opinion reveals, C.R. did not identify Johnson as her attacker when she was first shown his photograph.⁵ Also, as the trial judge noted, C.R. made a tentative identification of someone other than Johnson.⁶ Finally, when C.R. picked Johnson at the live lineup, his image could have been familiar to her from having seen him in the photographic lineup. This possibility diminished the significance of her identification of him at the live lineup.

Given the grounds for doubting the evidence other than the P.W. and N.B. identifications, it cannot be said that admission of those two additional eyewitness identifications had no effect

⁵A few days after the crime, C.R. was shown a photographic lineup that included Johnson. She did not make a positive identification, but she thought there was a possible suspect among the photographs. (10R1154-1156).

⁶C.R. found this suspect when she, along with her husband, stepfather, and mother, drove around in the area of the crime for two or three hours, looking for her attacker. (9R1063-1064). C.R. told the police she was 96 percent certain this man was her attacker, but she could not positively identify him without seeing his hair and hearing his voice. (9R1064-1066,1085). At trial, C.R. testified that she had been under pressure from her family and herself to identify the man who attacked her, and she had jumped to conclusions. (9R1089).

on the verdict. As every trial lawyer knows, it is one thing to convince a jury that one witness has made a mistake. It is quite another to persuade the jury that three eyewitnesses have all mistakenly identified the defendant. There is no serious argument that admission of P.W. and N.B.'s identifications should be viewed as harmless error.

> ISSUE II. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION TO ADDRESS THE SENTENCING ISSUE BASED ON CONFLICT WITH DENSON V. STATE, 711 SO. 2D 1225 (FLA. 2D DCA 1998)

The trial judge's imposition of an upward departure sentence without stating reasons at sentencing violated Fla. R. Crim. Proc. 3.702(d)(18)(A), which provides:

If a sentencing judge imposes a sentence that departs from the recommended guidelines sentence, the reasons for departure shall be orally articulated at the time sentence is imposed.

As petitioner pointed out to the district court, in the post-1994 sentencing guidelines, oral articulation of departure reasons at sentencing has taken the place that contemporaneous written reasons held in the pre-1994 guidelines. Just as contemporaneous written reasons were needed to assure that the judge imposed a departure only after "serious and thoughtful attention," <u>Ree v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 1329,1332 (Fla. 1990), now oral articulation of reasons at sentencing is needed to be sure the departure decision is based on serious and thoughtful attention. Just as the remedy for failing to provide contemporaneous written reasons for departure was resentencing under the guidelines without the possibility of departure, in

order to prevent "unwarranted efforts to justify an original departure," <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1990), now the same remedy is appropriate under the 1994 guidelines, for imposing a departure sentence with no reasons at all given at sentencing.

Petitioner's trial counsel could have raised this issue in a motion to correct sentence under Fla. R. Crim. Proc. 3.800(b), and have insisted on resentencing without a departure at that time. Because the issue was not presented to the trial judge, the district court held that appellate review is barred. This holding is directly contrary to the holding of <u>Denson v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). <u>See also</u>, <u>Mizell v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978b (Fla. 3d DCA, August 26, 1998). The issue of whether unpreserved sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record should be corrected on direct appeal is already pending in this Court in <u>Denson</u> and other cases.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of petitioner's argument.

STEVEN A. BEEN Attorney for Petitioner Public Defender's Office Leon County Courthouse 301 South Monroe Street, #401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 488-2436 ext. 114 Florida Bar No. 335142