# FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 12 19981

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIRRON JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 93,915

#### JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLOBIDA BAR NO. 325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Sirron Johnson, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) if express and direct conflict exists between the lower court's decision in this case and the decision of another district court of appeal or this Court on the same question of law.

#### CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form [hereinafter referenced as "slip op."], <u>Sirron Johnson v. State</u>, Slip Op., Case No. 96-3682 (Fla. 1st DCA August 13, 1998). It also can be found at 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1894.

The State disputes the Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts which improperly rely upon matters outside the four corners

of the lower court's opinion. That statement should be ignored in its entirety.

P.W. assisted in the preparation of a composite drawing of her assailant shortly after the rape. Several days later, she was asked to look at a photo spread from which she selected the person depicted in photo three as the rapist. N.B. also assisted in the preparation of a composite drawing of her assailant. Thereafter, she was shown the same photo spread and she also selected the person depicted in photo three, Jessie Ellis.

After C.R. was raped, she was shown a series of photos and was told to identify someone only if she was one hundred per cent certain. She felt that one photo could have been that of her assailant, but did not make an identification because she was not positive. Later, she positively identified the defendant in a line up.

A year after their mistaken identifications, P.W. and N.B. were told that Ellis was not the man who raped them because the DNA did not match him, but matched someone else. N.B. was told she would be shown a picture of the person who assaulted her so she would not see him for the first time in court. Both victims were shown photographs at the prosecutor's office.

P.W. did not recognize the person in the first three photos she was shown; they were all photos of Ellis, the person she had mistakenly identified earlier. P.W. did not believe that any of those photos looked like the person she picked out of the initial photo spread. When P.W. was shown a fourth photo, she

"immediately knew that was the person" who assaulted her and flipped the picture over. She recognized particular features of the man depicted, particularly the frowning and "cringing of the eyes." She was then shown the original photo spread and testified the photo of the defendant looked like the person she had selected in the photo spread.

N.B. was also shown the same photos shown to P.W. although not in the same order. N.B. recognized her attacker in the second photo, primarily from the eyes, and upon viewing the photograph, immediately left the office and vomited. N.B. was shown the original photo spread and was able to identify the person she originally picked. She believed the photos of Ellis she was shown by the prosecutor did not resemble the photo spread picture of Ellis she initially selected; the person she selected from the photo spread bore a close resemblance to the defendant. 23 Fla. L. Weekly D 1895.

#### The First District Court held:

In his brief, Johnson focuses on the suggestive procedures employed by the prosecution. The trial court, however, recognized that these procedures were unnecessarily suggestive. The question, then, is whether, under Edwards v. State, the in-court identifications were "based solely upon the witness's independent recollection of the offender at the time of the crime, uninfluenced by the intervening illegal confrontation." 538 So. 2d at 442. Johnson complains particularly of the trial court's utilization of the "other scientific evidence of the defendant's guilt." He argues that while such evidence "may be reassuring ... it plays no part in the determination of whether or not the challenged misidentification violated due process." In Chaney v. State, however, our supreme court unanimously allowed an in-court identification after a suggestive one-man photographic display, specifically noting: "[c]orroborating latent

fingerprints extracted from furnishings and items in the trailer where the rape occurred were identified as belonging to appellant." 267 So. 2d 65, 69.

In these types of cases it is the danger of misidentification, rather than the mere occasion of suggestion, that constitutes the basis for exclusion of identification evidence. See Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198; Baxter, 355 So. 2d at 1237. Here the trial court properly noted that the attacks occurred in broad daylight, and that the assailant made no effort to disguise his face or prevent the victim from viewing him until he actually committed the rapes. The judge also noted that "each witness was resolute in her identification of the defendant." The testimony of N.B. and P.W. was particularly graphic. Upon being shown defendant's photograph for the first time. P.W. immediately flipped the picture over because she did not want to look at it. When N.B. saw the photograph of Johnson, she became physically ill. Both N.B. and P.W. felt that the person selected from the initial photo spread bore a close resemblance to Sirron Johnson. Consonant with this, the trial judge found that the composite drawings, prepared just after the N.B. and P.W. rapes, were more consistent with Johnson's appearance than with that of Ellis. Under these facts, we are not prepared to say that the admittedly suggestive procedures employed by the State Attorney's Office so completely vitiated the in-court identifications by the two witnesses as to entitle Johnson to a new trial.

#### 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1897.

With regard to sentencing the First District Court held:

Under the sentencing guidelines, adopted by our Legislature in its wisdom, Sirron Johnson, having been convicted of armed kidnaping, armed sexual battery, and armed robbery, scored in a quideline range of 9.6 to 16 years prison. On the motion of the State, the court imposed a 45-year sentence on each count to run concurrently. The judge announced that he was departing from the guidelines and would enter a written order setting forth his reasons within seven days. moving for a departure, the State had noted appellant's unscored juvenile offenses, escalating pattern of criminal conduct, and premeditation and calculation in the present offenses. Six days after sentencing, the court entered its written departure order noting the factors that had been argued by the State at sentencing. Counsel for appellant did not, at that

time, file a motion under 3.800(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, concerning the departure.

On appeal appellant argues that although a trial judge may delay shortly in issuing a written departure order, the judge must orally articulate departure reasons at sentencing under Rule 3.702(d)(18)(A), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Here, the trial judge did not state his reasons, orally or otherwise, at sentencing. Accordingly, argues appellant, the judge's written order does not save the departure sentence, and appellant is entitled to a guideline sentence for his crimes. We hold that the sentencing issue is not preserved for appeal because appellant made no objection at the time of sentencing concerning the trial court's failure to strictly abide by the rules of criminal procedure, nor did he file a Rule 3.800(b) motion within thirty days. Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(g) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1996); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 700 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1997). Indeed, it is not unlikely that defense counsel recognized that by orally announcing his intent to depart, the trial court simply adopted the reasons articulated by the State. 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1897.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has improperly relied upon matters outside the lower court's opinion and misrepresents the district court's analysis and holdings. The appropriate focus upon the operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the DCA's decision, shows no express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court or another DCA.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND EDWARDS V. STATE, 538 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1989) AND DENSON V. STATE, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1998)? (Restated)

In support of his claim that conflict jurisdiction lies, the Petitioner presents a merits argument based upon factual matters outside the record and an inaccurate interpretation of the lower court's application of the law. When the appropriate standard for the determination of jurisdiction is applied, it is readily apparent that "express and direct" conflict with Edwards and Denson does not "appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, supra.; Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986). It is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained that district courts of appeal are not intermediate courts, but are courts of last resort with access to the Supreme Court limited to certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice.

Accordingly, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether despite the application of the same rule of law to identical facts, the District Court's decision below reached a result opposite to those in <u>Edwards</u> or <u>Denson</u>. A review of these decisions establishes that the cases differ significantly from the instant one on their facts. Thus, no conflict exists.

In Edwards, for example, the defendant moved to suppress an out-of-court identification based upon the fact that a lineup including Edwards was conducted without Edwards' attorney being present. The key witness, Walters, who identified Edwards as the person he saw with the murder victim at a gas station at midnight the night of the murder did not identify Edwards at the line-up. Instead, Walters later told police he recognized Edwards as the man he saw the night of the murder, but did not make an identification at the lineup because he was in violation of his probation by being in Florida. Walters got a three to four second glance at the defendant and victim, dividing his time of observation between them. He testified he barely got a look at the man and only saw the outline of his face. The initial description of the person Walters provided during questioning by police was general and fit the general description of many black males. On the same day as the lineup or the following date, Walters saw the defendant's photograph in the newspaper identifying him as the suspect. Finally, while waiting to testify, Walters was overheard saying that he did not understand why he had been flown in to testify since all he had seen was the outline of the man's face.

The <u>Edwards</u> Court reversed after independently applying the factors enunciated in <u>Neil v. Biggers</u>, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed.2d 401 (1972), noting that the trial court did not make specific findings as to whether Walters' in-court identification was tainted by the illegal lineup. The Court did

so based upon its finding that Walters' had only a minimal opportunity to observe the man he saw and the absence of any other indicia of reliability.

The instant case differs from Edwards both procedurally and factually. The bases for the motions to suppress differ as does the fact that here, the lower court specifically addressed the applicability of the factors enumerated in Neil v. Biggers.

Also, in this case, the witnesses had ample unimpeded opportunity to view the defendant and did not fail to identify the defendant in a lineup in which he participated. The facts thus differ dramatically and the lower court cannot be said to have reached a different conclusion based upon identical facts. This conclusion is not altered by the fact that the trial court considered the existence of scientific evidence of reliability as part of the totality of the circumstances analysis mandated by Neil v.

Biggers. The defendant's assertion that "tension" exists between Chaney v. State, 267 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 1972) and Edwards does not result in conflict jurisdiction between this case and Edwards.

With regard to the alleged conflict between the lower court's ruling herein and <u>Denson</u>, the Petitioner asserts that this Court should exercise its jurisdiction because "the issue of whether unpreserved sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record should be corrected on direct appeal is pending in this Court in <u>Denson</u> and other cases." PJB, 10.

The Petitioner again presents a merits argument which does not serve to establish that the lower court and the <u>Denson</u> Court

applied the same law to the same facts to yield different results. Denson involved an appeal of two habitual offender sentences for delivery of cocaine and possession of cocaine. At the sentencing hearing, the court orally pronounced that Denson would serve two concurrent ten year habitual offender sentences on the possession charges and two concurrent terms of fifteen years imprisonment on the delivery charges. The written sentences differed from the oral pronouncement and imposed the sentence consecutively to each other. The Denson Court held that when the court otherwise had jurisdiction in a criminal appeal, it had the discretion to correct an illegal sentence or serious sentencing error apparent on its face despite a lack of preservation at the trial court level.

Here, the facts of the cases and the types of sentencing issues differ. The error complained of is not an illegal sentence nor is the error apparent on its face. Because the two cases differ, the defendant is incorrect in contending conflict jurisdiction exists.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.